
 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
WxÑÉá|à|ÉÇ fxÜä|vxá? \ÇvAWxÑÉá|à|ÉÇ fxÜä|vxá? \ÇvAWxÑÉá|à|ÉÇ fxÜä|vxá? \ÇvAWxÑÉá|à|ÉÇ fxÜä|vxá? \ÇvA

DEFED `|wwÄxuÜÉÉ~ eÉtw? fâ|àx EDC
ZxÜÅtÇàÉãÇ? `W ECKJG

gxÄM ;FCD< KKD@FFGG YtåM ;FCD< KKD@FFFK
|ÇyÉSWxÑÉá|à|ÉÇfxÜä|vxáAvÉÅ   ãããAWxÑÉá|à|ÉÇfxÜä|vxáAvÉÅ

   UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT

ELOUISE PEPION COBELL, ET AL.;
KIMBERLY CRAVEN,

 
    Appellant,

  
v.

KENNETH LEE SALAZAR, SECRETARY
OF THE INTERIOR, ET AL.,

    Appellees.

No. 11- 5205

    Thursday, February 16, 2012

    Washington, D.C.

The above-entitled matter came on for oral
argument pursuant to notice.

BEFORE:

CIRCUIT JUDGES ROGERS, TATEL, AND BROWN

APPEARANCES:

ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLANT:
THEODORE H. FRANK, ESQ.

ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLEES SECRETARY
OF THE INTERIOR, ET AL. :
THOMAS H. BONDY, ESQ.

ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLEES COBELL, ET AL. :
ADAM H. CHARNES, ESQ.



plu 2

C O N T E N T S

ORAL ARGUMENT OF: PAGE

Theodore H. Frank, Esq.
On Behalf of the Appellant 3; 34

   
Thomas H. Bondy, Esq.
On Behalf of the Appellees, Secretary
of the Interior, et al.   15

Adam H. Charnes, Esq.
On Behalf of the Appellees Cobell, et al.   26



plu 3

P R O C E E D I N G S1

THE CLERK:  Case number 11-5205, Elouise Pepion2

Cobell, et al.; Kimberly Craven, Appellant v. Kenne th Lee3

Salazar, Secretary of the Interior, et al.  Mr. Fra nk for the4

Appellant; Mr. Bondy for Appellee, Secretary of the  Interior,5

et al.; Mr. Charnes for Appellees Cobell, et al.  6

JUDGE ROGERS:  Good morning.  All right.  Good7

morning. 8

ORAL ARGUMENT OF THEODORE H. FRANK, ESQ.9

ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLANT10

MR. FRANK:  Good morning, may it please the Court,11

Theodore Frank for Appellant, Kimberly Craven, pro bono.  12

Wal-Mart v. Dukes had two primary holdings, and13

unfortunately the District Court failed to apply ea ch of them14

correctly, and these independent errors of law in a ddition to15

the other errors we identified in our briefs provid e grounds16

for reversing the Court's settlement approval.  17

First of all, the District Court found that the 23( b)(2)18

settlement was appropriate because the relief was r estitution19

type payments or inequitable restitution in lieu of  the20

injunctive relief sought by the parties in their in itial21

complaint.  But as Wal-Mart v. Dukes confirmed, Rule 23(b)(2)22

does not speak of equitable remedies, generally, bu t of23

injunctions and declaratory judgments.  24

JUDGE TATEL:  But in Wal-Mart the Plaintiffs sought25
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injunctive relief and back pay right from the begin ning,1

correct?2

MR. FRANK:  Correct.3

JUDGE TATEL:  And here the Plaintiffs sought just4

injunctive relief, and in fact the amended complain t that the5

District Court eventually certified only sought inj unctive6

relief.  So, isn't the question in this case whethe r or not7

Plaintiffs who bring an injunctive action can settl e for8

monetary relief?  And that's a different question t han Wal-9

Mart raised, isn't it?10

MR. FRANK:  It's a slightly different question, but11

once they converted their injunctive complaint to a  monetary12

complaint --13

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, but they didn't.  The amended14

complaint that Judge Hogan certified only seeks inj unctive15

relief.  16

MR. FRANK:  That's correct.17

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  So, the question really is18

whether an injunctive action can be settled for mon etary19

relief.  At least that's what the case looks like t o me.  It20

doesn't mean you still don't, you sold me, you have  a good21

case, I'm just trying to ask you what lens we look at this22

through.23

MR. FRANK:  Certainly --24

JUDGE TATEL:  Isn't that right?25
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MR. FRANK:  -- that is an issue, but the critical1

issue is whether they can settle it for monetary re lief and2

continue the (b)(2) certification that's mandatory for bidding3

an opt out.4

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, but suppose it was, suppose the5

Court had concluded that you can settle a -- or sup pose the6

rule is that you can settle an injunctive, a proper ly7

certified injunctive action for damages if it's fai r,8

reasonable, and adequate; and it wouldn't be fair i f, the9

settlement wouldn't be fair if, you know, there are  the kinds10

of interclass conflicts that you have alleged.  I m ean, in11

other words, do you see my point?  It wouldn't -- j ust because12

you convert, just because you look at the issue the  way I just13

asked you about, that is whether you could settle a n action,14

an injunctive action for money doesn't mean that th e approval15

here is appropriate, you still have the fair, reaso nable, and16

adequate question, right?17

MR. FRANK:  I think that's correct.  I think you ca n18

hypothesize a settlement --19

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.20

MR. FRANK:  -- where the value of the injunctive21

relief is so small, and the monetary relief given t o every22

class member is so large that no class member is le ft 23

lacking.24

JUDGE TATEL:  Right.25
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MR. FRANK:  And in that very rare instance I can't1

even --2

JUDGE TATEL:  So, if you look at it the way we were3

just talking about, what's the fatal flaw here then ?4

MR. FRANK:  The fatal flaw here is --5

JUDGE TATEL:  Is what?6

MR. FRANK:  -- as this Court identified in Cobell7

XXII, not every class member is identically situated, a nd not8

every class member is fairly treated by $1,000 comp ensation9

for the --10

JUDGE TATEL:  But how do we know that at this point11

of the litigation?12

MR. FRANK:  Well, for one thing it's their burden t o13

demonstrate.14

JUDGE TATEL:  It's whose burden?15

MR. FRANK:  It's the settling --16

JUDGE TATEL:  Isn't the burden --17

MR. FRANK:  -- party's burden to demonstrate.18

JUDGE TATEL:  I thought the burden was on you here19

to show that the District Court abused discretion i n approving20

the settlement.21

MR. FRANK:  Well, the District Court never made a22

finding that $1,000 would adequately compensate eve ry single23

class member.  24

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  Well, is there any evidence --25
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what evidence would you point to in the record that  would1

suggest -- your point as I understand it is that th e risk here2

is that some class members will be over-compensated , and3

others under-compensated, right?4

MR. FRANK:  That's one of our complaints, yes.5

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  So, what evidence is there that6

that is likely to happen, or might happen?  Is ther e any --7

you haven't pointed to anything that --8

MR. FRANK:  Well, I disagree.9

JUDGE TATEL:  -- says it would in fact --10

MR. FRANK:  We have the lead Plaintiff's own11

testimony before Congress about individual class me mbers who12

because of improper accounting lost millions of dol lars.  We13

have the Two Shields (phonetic sp.) class action that's14

currently pending in the Court of Claims which alle ges15

hundreds of millions of dollars that have been lost  pursuant16

to trust mis-administration.  And my own client has  a variety17

of trust interests and she has no idea whether that 's worth18

$1,000 or not, because as this Court identified in Cobell 19

XXII --20

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, is it --21

MR. FRANK:  -- you can't know whether it's worth22

$1,000 until --23

JUDGE TATEL:  Right.24

MR. FRANK:  -- you have the actual accounting.25
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JUDGE TATEL:  But is there any -- given the1

circumstances of this case, I understand that point , but given2

the circumstances of this case, given Cobell XXII, and given3

the fact that Congress isn't going to appropriate t he money,4

what kind of accounting could possibly, what kind o f5

accounting could be done that would possibly answer  that6

question?7

MR. FRANK:  Well, Cobell XXII authorized the8

District Court to identify the low hanging fruit an d create9

subgroups within the (b)(2) class that would be ent itled to an10

accounting, and other class members, the class memb ers with 1511

cents in their accounts and no conceivable claim to  a larger12

account would not get an accounting.  13

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.14

MR. FRANK:  And, you know, again, this is something15

that this Court directly addressed in Cobell XXII, that just16

giving everybody a per capita payment, and that's s omething17

the Government said in its briefing in Cobell XXII, they're18

just simply giving everybody in the class a per cap ita payment19

is one, not permissible under (b)(2), and two would  be20

arbitrary and unfair.  The Cobell XXII didn't reach the (b)(2)21

issue, but the Government did say that in their bri efing in22

that case.  And I think Wal-Mart and Ticor Title Trust, these23

cases identify the potential problem if you take an  injunctive24

case under (b)(2) and turn it into a monetary case.   25
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JUDGE ROGERS:  Of course, the whole theory here was1

the Plaintiff's case seeking a historical accountin g was so2

they would be able to identify any amounts they wer e due by3

the Government.  And the District Court here looked  at the4

case somewhat differently than we've been discussin g so far,5

didn't it?  And I need to know what's wrong with th at.  In6

other words, the $1,000 was not a per capita damage s award --7

MR. FRANK:  Well, but --8

JUDGE ROGERS:  -- but it was consideration for9

giving up the right to an historical accounting.10

MR. FRANK:  In my mind that's a legal, that's a11

distinction without a legal material difference.12

JUDGE ROGERS:  Well, we all know from studying13

property law that, you know, consideration can be v ery14

different than the actual value, and I thought that  was the15

concept that the District Court was applying here.16

MR. FRANK:  Well, certainly --17

JUDGE ROGERS:  And why, if he was, why was that18

impermissible as a matter of settlement here?19

MR. FRANK:  Because it's a (b)(2) class, and the20

class members aren't getting to choose whether they  want that21

consideration.  No class members, class members are  not given22

the opportunity to opt out that Wal-Mart v. Dukes considered23

to be of constitutional importance.  24

I see that I'm running into my rebuttal time.  Very25
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quickly on the standing question --1

JUDGE TATEL:  Wait, before you get to that --2

JUDGE ROGERS:  Yes.  We need --3

JUDGE TATEL:  I'm sorry, I didn't mean --4

JUDGE ROGERS:  Go ahead.5

JUDGE TATEL:  -- to interrupt you.6

JUDGE ROGERS:  Go ahead.7

JUDGE TATEL:  I'm still not sure I understand --8

well, let me ask you this, do you agree with me tha t whether9

or not this is -- your client has a right to an acc ounting,10

and whether this settlement is unfair, whether you look at it11

as a certification issue or a 23(e) issue, turns on  whether12

it's, there's any way to, through an accounting to determine13

that some members of the class are getting over-com pensated,14

others under-compensated, right?  Would you agree - - let me15

put it this way, suppose there was virtually no way  to show16

that, would you agree then that this is fair?17

MR. FRANK:  That there's no way to show it than --18

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.19

MR. FRANK:  -- what happens then?  I apologize that20

I don't understand.21

JUDGE TATEL:  That, in other words, if it was prett y22

clear from the record that no accounting that Congr ess would23

fund would reveal the kinds of discrepancies that w ould make,24

between beneficiaries it would make this unfair, wo uld you25



plu 11

agree then that the District Court would lose its d iscretion?1

MR. FRANK:  I would agree that if --2

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.3

MR. FRANK:  -- Congress announced that nobody ever4

gets an accounting and therefore no class member co uld5

possibly --6

JUDGE TATEL:  Right.7

MR. FRANK:  -- win the $1,000 from the accounting - -8

JUDGE TATEL:  Right.9

MR. FRANK:  -- then the $1,000 would be fair in 10

that --11

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, so the reason I ask is that --12

MR. FRANK:  -- situation that we don't have.13

JUDGE TATEL:  -- in Cobell, I think it was 20, the14

District Court had the '07 plan before it --15

JUDGE ROGERS:  Yes.16

JUDGE TATEL:  -- and that plan which would have cos t17

another 100 or so million dollars which nobody had,  that plan18

would have only sampled about six, only about 6,00019

transactions would have been reconciled, which is20

infinitesimal given the size of the class and the n umber of21

transactions.  I mean, that's the best I've seen so  far that,22

if possible, and even that can't be, isn't affordab le.  So,23

given that what -- I mean, that if we did, if the C ourt24

ordered that accounting it wouldn't produce the evi dence about25
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the possible discrepancies you fear exist here, cor rect?1

MR. FRANK:  No.  Well, we don't know.2

JUDGE TATEL:  But it wouldn't, there's no way it3

could.  I mean --4

MR. FRANK:  We don't --5

JUDGE TATEL:  -- virtually all of the beneficiaries ,6

with looking at that few number of accounts and tra nsactions,7

you know, 99 percent of the beneficiaries accounts wouldn't8

even be looked at, you wouldn't know.9

MR. FRANK:  But there's still the other one percent ,10

and all it would take is one account, and one mis-t ransaction11

of --12

JUDGE TATEL:  To do what?13

MR. FRANK:  -- over $1,000.  14

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  15

MR. FRANK:  And, you know, the Supreme Court has16

addressed this a couple of times now in Hodel v. Irving and17

Babbitt v. Youpee, and they say we recognize this is a big18

problem, but you don't get to skive, you don't get to knock19

everybody out in the interests of you don't get to take the20

procedural shortcut to resolve the problem --21

JUDGE TATEL:  I see.22

MR. FRANK:  -- and that's what happened here.23

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  I'm --24

JUDGE ROGERS:  So, just so I'm clear, going back in25
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this case some way there was consideration of using1

statistical modeling to develop a historical accoun ting, and2

the Plaintiffs rejected that, what does that do to your3

argument?4

MR. FRANK:  I don't think that affects my argument5

one way or the other.6

JUDGE ROGERS:  Well, what I'm trying to get at is7

Judge Tatel has been discussing with you the imposs ibility of8

getting the type of accounting that you're thinking  because of9

the costs involved, and Congress was not, made it c lear it was10

not going to appropriate that amount of money.  An earlier11

alternative had been the notion of using statistica l modeling12

because the Department had indicated it didn't have  certain13

records, or couldn't find them.  So, when this Cour t later14

talked about identifying the low hanging fruit you seemed to15

be clear what that meant, I'm not clear what that m eant.16

MR. FRANK:  No.  Well, I don't think anybody is, 17

but --18

JUDGE ROGERS:  All right.19

MR. FRANK:  -- I think statistical evidence could20

show that there would be some class members that wo uld be21

under-compensated by the flat $1,000 Procrustean re lief here. 22

But -- and that still leaves the trust administrati on class,23

which is the other Wal-Mart problem, and the other issues we24

raised, even if we somehow decide that a (b)(2) cla ss can be25
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certified for monetary relief.1

JUDGE TATEL:  What do you think of this -- one of2

the red briefs points out that there was this study  that3

examined 99 percent of the IIM account transfers ov er a 4

20-year period and found no non-minor errors at all  --5

MR. FRANK:  I --6

JUDGE TATEL:  -- much less they didn't find any7

major errors at all.  How do we, what do we think a bout that?8

MR. FRANK:  That was just, I think, for the named9

plaintiffs.  They didn't find any major errors with  the named10

plaintiffs, but maybe I'm misunderstanding the ques tion.  My11

recollection --12

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, I ask because I didn't see a13

response to this point in your reply brief.14

MR. FRANK:  I'll take --15

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, no, is the study, it tracked 4816

million of the 49 million IIM transactions during a  20-year17

period and found no evidence of any major problems.18

MR. FRANK:  And that goes to the strength of the19

Plaintiff's claims.20

JUDGE TATEL:  No, I'm just asking since the questio n21

here is whether or not an accounting is likely to p roduce22

inter-class discrepancies that you're worried about , this23

suggests that it wouldn't.24

MR. FRANK:  For any given class member, if you pick25
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a class member, are they likely to have a discrepan cy, the1

answer is no.  Across the entire class that is affe cted and do2

not have the choice whether or not to opt out, I th ink it is3

likely that someone will have that discrepancy.  Bu t it's4

impossible to say, again, because we have this arbi trary5

distribution that Cobell XXII criticized.  6

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  7

MR. FRANK:  Very quickly on the standing, 28 U.S.C.8

1653 permits reconciliation of any problems at the appellate9

level should you disagree with my argument that Devlin and10

Rule 23(e)(5) provide standing.  I'm over my time.  I hope11

I'll get some rebuttal time, but if not, thank you.12

JUDGE ROGERS:  Yes, we'll give you a couple of13

minutes.  Thank you.  Yes.14

ORAL ARGUMENT OF THOMAS H. BONDY, ESQ.15

ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLEES, SECRETARY OF THE INTERI OR, ET AL.16

MR. BONDY:  May it please the Court, my name is17

Thomas Bondy.  I represent the Defendants/Appellees , the18

Secretary of the Interior, et al.  19

Your Honors, at issue here is whether the District Court20

abused its discretion in approving the congressiona lly21

authorized settlement of the Cobell Indian Trust case.  The22

answer to that question is no.  The settlement is i n all23

respects rational and sensible, its terms are fair to the24

members of the Plaintiff class, and in the Governme nt's view25
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the settlement represents a significant and welcome  step1

forward in terms of Indian trust reform.  Respectfu lly, Your2

Honors, the judgment below should be affirmed.  3

Before turning to any of the specific issues it's a lso4

important to bear in mind, Your Honors, this was an5

extraordinary settlement even by the standards of l arge class6

action settlements.  This settlement by its terms i n order to7

become effective required congressional legislation , Congress8

had to pass a statute in order to make this --9

JUDGE ROGERS:  You know, that's almost true with an y10

government settlements, so I don't think that gets you too11

far.  12

JUDGE TATEL:  Right.13

MR. BONDY:  Well --14

JUDGE ROGERS:  I mean, you know, sometimes it can b e15

paid out of, you know, a settlement fund that the A gency may16

have, but anything significant you're going to have  to get an17

appropriation from Congress.18

MR. BONDY:  Maybe, Your Honor, but the statute here19

doesn't just provide --20

JUDGE ROGERS:  Yes.21

MR. BONDY:  -- a large appropriation.  It does othe r22

significant things, too.23

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes, but look, let me just continue24

with what --25
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JUDGE ROGERS:  Yes.1

JUDGE TATEL:  -- Judge Rogers just said.  Well, if2

there were evidence that some members of the class were being3

over-compensated and others under-compensated it wo uldn't make4

any difference how big and important the settlement  is.5

MR. BONDY:  That's true, Your Honor.6

JUDGE TATEL:  Wouldn't it be unfair?  Okay.7

MR. BONDY:  Your Honor, ultimately the --8

JUDGE TATEL:  So, why don't we focus on that9

question.10

JUDGE ROGERS:  Right.11

MR. BONDY:  That's fine, Your Honor.12

JUDGE TATEL:  This Court more than anyone else know s13

how long it's taken to get here, we got that point.   Cobell14

XXII tells us that.  It's not Cobell I, it's not Cobell II,15

it's XXII.  We got the point.  16

MR. BONDY:  Okay.17

JUDGE TATEL:  So, why don't you focus on the issue.  18

Their primary argument is this thing's unfair becau se, you19

know, there's no evidence that the harm done by the  Agency20

over these years is equally spread among all the21

beneficiaries.  22

MR. BONDY:  Well, as some of the questioning --23

JUDGE TATEL:  That’s --24

MR. BONDY:  -- before indicated, Your Honor, it is25
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hard to answer that kind of question in the context  like this1

with absolute precision, and that kind of precision  is not2

required.  There is an element of rough justice her e, but this3

isn't random and arbitrary.  The different pieces o f the4

compensation here make sense and are fair, and from  our point5

of view if I can explain are actually generous.  Th is is more6

than a fair settlement, it's a generous settlement.   And if I7

can go through, Your Honor --8

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, that's again not the question9

they're raising.  They're not challenging the size of the10

settlement.11

JUDGE ROGERS:  Yes.12

JUDGE TATEL:  It's not their concern.13

MR. BONDY:  Well, if we can go through the three14

different pieces of the compensation, Your Honor, b ecause15

there really are three.  The way this settlement wo rks --16

JUDGE TATEL:  It would help me if you would just17

focus on this primary argument they make about the unfairness18

of it that stems from their allegation that some pe ople will19

be over and others under-compensated.20

MR. BONDY:  Well --21

JUDGE TATEL:  And we don't know the answer to that.  22

Well, let me ask you the question this way, suppose  there was23

one member of the class who had accepted your argum ent about24

how difficult the accounting is going to be, and ho w expensive25
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they are and how it's unlikely.  Suppose one member  of the1

class had clear evidence that her account was, that  the $2,0002

was grossly inadequate compared to the errors in he r account.3

MR. BONDY:  I guess I have two reactions --4

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.5

MR. BONDY:  -- to that, Your Honor.  I understand6

the question and I'm not trying to dodge it, but --7

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.8

MR. BONDY:  -- it's hard to see how that scenario9

could present itself, but in any event, I don't thi nk that10

makes the settlement --11

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, she's kept really good records12

and she has proof that substantial amounts of money  have13

disappeared from her IIM account.14

JUDGE ROGERS:  Comes from a long line of --15

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.16

JUDGE ROGERS:  -- accountants.17

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  Exactly.  18

MR. BONDY:  Well, I mean --19

JUDGE TATEL:  And she's got clear evidence, that's20

my hypothetical.  21

MR. BONDY:  I guess I have two --22

JUDGE TATEL:  She's got evidence that $100,000 was23

missing from this account --24

MR. BONDY:  Okay, I --25
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JUDGE TATEL:  -- and a CPA has certified that.1

MR. BONDY:  Okay, fair enough.  Just to be --2

JUDGE TATEL:  Now, that person's going to get3

$2,000, can't up that.4

MR. BONDY:  Just to be clear, Your Honor --5

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.6

MR. BONDY:  -- we, I mean, there is a record here,7

we are not aware of the existence of any such perso n.8

JUDGE TATEL:  This was a hypothetical.9

MR. BONDY:  I don't think that makes the settlement10

fair as to the class and any person who is dissatis fied, and11

this is crucial for due process and other reasons, any person12

ultimately who is dissatisfied, this does retain th e option of13

opting out.14

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, not --15

JUDGE ROGERS:  Well, that's --16

JUDGE TATEL:  -- not the --17

JUDGE ROGERS:  -- not as to the first --18

JUDGE TATEL:  Right.19

MR. BONDY:  Well, as to the trust administration20

class --21

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.22

JUDGE ROGERS:  Yes.23

MR. BONDY:  -- that is the class that deals with --24

JUDGE ROGERS:  No, but the argument --25
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MR. BONDY:  -- monetary claims.1

JUDGE ROGERS:  -- in part is that if I don't have2

the evidence, namely an historical accounting, it's  going to3

be very difficult for me to prove my case as a memb er of the4

second class, so that's why the lawsuit was brought  in the5

beginning.6

MR. BONDY:  It is why the lawsuit was brought in th e7

beginning, but also as Your Honors know, this has b een8

discussed, the reason why we are here now is it tur ns out that9

the accounting project, as Your Honors know, became  mired in10

the protracted litigation, and it turns out that se arch, that11

quest for a full and robust accounting was much, mu ch more12

complicated, and much, much more costly than anyone13

anticipated at the outset.14

JUDGE ROGERS:  So, our analysis ought to be in the15

realm of impossibility in that sense?  I mean, give n that16

Congress had clearly stated it was not going to fun d an17

historical accounting, at least as it understood wo uld be18

required to grant the relief sought by the complain t.19

MR. BONDY:  Yes.  I'm not sure the word20

impossibility is the right word, but --21

JUDGE ROGERS:  Well, I'm trying to think of a22

framework for where we're in this, as it were a bla ck box, and23

you could have this hypothetical, but we don't know , that's24

what I'm getting at.25
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MR. BONDY:  But also remember, Your Honor, there is1

a compensation formula here that is key in signific ant part to2

the revenues, the flow-through, if you will, of eac h3

individual's IIM account.  So, there's a compensati on formula4

that an irrational, admittedly rough justice kind o f way, keys5

the individual's compensation in significant part t o the6

individual's circumstances, the circumstances of th e IIM7

account.8

JUDGE TATEL:  So, you're telling me then, I guess I9

hadn't understood this completely that take Mrs. Cr aven here,10

she can protect all of her interests by opting out of the11

trust administration class and get an accounting?12

MR. BONDY:  I wouldn't put it quite that way when13

you said protect all of her interest, because there  are two14

classes here, one of them is not an opt-out class.  Ms. Craven15

is a member of both.  She cannot opt out of the acc ounting16

class, she can opt out of the --17

JUDGE TATEL:  Okay.18

MR. BONDY:  -- trust administration class.19

JUDGE TATEL:  That was my question, can she -- so,20

she opts out, what can she do?21

MR. BONDY:  She retains whatever rights she always22

had to file a claim against the United States for m oney23

damages in the Court of Federal Claims, and has ava ilable to24

her whatever evidentiary tools or discovery tools a re25
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available in such a proceeding, and of course, the Government1

has available to it, and whatever defenses might be  available,2

including, for example, statute of limitations.  An d in that3

context the Court of Federal Claims does have a con cept of4

what it calls an accounting in aid of jurisdiction,  which is5

not the same thing as a full backward looking histo rical6

accounting, but it is an accounting concept.  7

But Judge Tatel, I just want to be clear that membe rs of8

this class do give something up, they give up their  historical9

accounting claims.  I don't want to leave any doubt  about10

that.  But they can opt out of the second class, wh ich is the11

class for money damages, and proceed with whatever money12

claims they think they have as they see fit in the Court of13

Federal Claims.  And I think that opt out right doe s answer14

some of, a lot of the questions in this case.15

But again, going back to the formula in the trust16

administration class, that is a formula that tries to key17

compensation in a significant way to the individual18

circumstances of the particular class member based roughly on19

the size and the duration of that person's IIM acco unt20

activity.21

JUDGE TATEL:  Does the Government still believe tha t22

Mrs. Craven lacks standing?23

MR. BONDY:  Well, I'm not sure we ever believed it24

to the extent you put it that way.  Let me explain,  Your25
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Honor, and this was really limited to a footnote in  our brief,1

as we read the blue brief, the Craven Appellant's b rief, we2

thought that what she was saying in part, not in wh ole, in3

part, is that the settlement is unfair because it i s unfair to4

other people, not to her.  We understood her to be saying5

that, and our very limited modest point on standing  --6

JUDGE TATEL:  I see.7

MR. BONDY:  -- is we don't --8

JUDGE TATEL:  Right.9

MR. BONDY:  -- think she has standing to make that10

claim, that's all we're saying.  Of course she has standing to11

assert her own rights and perceived injuries to her self, of12

course she does.  13

JUDGE ROGERS:  Of course, one of her arguments, not14

arguments, but -- is that she didn't opt out so she 'd be in a15

position to make the arguments she's making today.16

MR. BONDY:  And that's fine, but she could make the17

arguments on behalf of herself.  She can't point to  other18

people who are not in her circumstances, who could have19

objected but did not, who could have opted out but did not,20

and who could have appealed and did not, and argue here that21

the settlement is unfair because it's unfair to tho se people. 22

She doesn't represent those people, she represents herself,23

and I think that's a very limited modest point, tha t's our24

only point --25
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JUDGE TATEL:  Okay.1

MR. BONDY:  -- on standing.  And we're not trying t o2

foreclose this Court's inquiry into the overall fai rness of --3

JUDGE TATEL:  Okay.4

MR. BONDY:  -- the settlement.5

JUDGE TATEL:  Okay.  Let me just, I'm going to ask6

you the same question I asked Mr. Frank, are we dea ling with a7

certification issue, or a fairness question?8

MR. BONDY:  Both, Your Honor.  I think both are9

presented.  The certification of the trust administ ration10

class is --11

JUDGE TATEL:  No, the historical class.  12

MR. BONDY:  I'm not --13

JUDGE TATEL:  I'm sorry.  I'm only talking about th e14

historical class.15

MR. BONDY:  Okay, Your Honor.  I'm not sure the16

certification of that class is directly presented.  It's a bit17

hard to tell, in some respect maybe that question a nd the18

fairness question are wrapped up together.  But, I mean, the19

Craven brief directly attacks the certification of the second20

class, the TAC.  But we don't -- to go back to the beginning21

of the oral argument, Your Honor, we certainly thin k that a22

(b)(2) class for injunctive relief can be settled f or a flat23

money payment, and if that were not true you'd have  a lot of24

cases like this one, cases for injunctive relief th at become25
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mired in litigation, that people reasonably want to  settle and1

can't settle because really in any cases the practi cal way to2

settle it will be just for a flat money payment to release the3

injunctive claims.  And it can't be that, in a reas onable4

sense the parties can't get together and do that.  5

Your Honors, I know that my red light is on, unless  the6

Court has any further questions I have nothing more .7

JUDGE ROGERS:  Thank you.8

MR. BONDY:  Thank you.9

JUDGE ROGERS:  Good morning.10

ORAL ARGUMENT OF ADAM H. CHARNES, ESQ.11

ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLEES COBELL, ET AL.12

MR. CHARNES:  Good morning, may it please the Court ,13

I'm Adam Charnes and I represent the Plaintiff clas s.  14

Maybe to start, Judge Tatel, with one of the questi ons15

you asked again at the end, I believe that there ar e two16

separate questions that Mrs. Craven muddles togethe r with17

respect to historical accounting class, and the fir st question18

is whether the historical accounting class was prop erly19

certified, and then if it was the second question i s whether20

it's fair under Rule 23(e).  And in that regard on the first21

question it's important to note that this class ess entially22

was certified 15 years ago in 1997.  The amended co mplaint23

that was filed made minor modifications to the scop e of the24

class in order to conform with decisions of this Co urt and the25
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District Court, for example, direct pay beneficiari es were1

removed from the class in accord with prior decisio ns.  But2

otherwise the class was certified 15 years ago.  So , we simply3

don't believe that Wal-Mart's holding has anything to say4

about that.  As you noted at the beginning, the his torical5

accounting class seeks solely injunctive relief, it  fits6

comfortably under (b)(2).  It also fits, and this w asn't7

addressed earlier this morning, under (b)(1)(A).  T he fact of8

the matter is that --9

JUDGE TATEL:  So, you see this question then as10

whether or not the District Court finding in Farris (phonetic11

sp.), that's the key question, right?12

MR. CHARNES:  Well --13

JUDGE TATEL:  Whether it's -- so, Plaintiffs can14

settle injunctive actions for money, and, which is what15

happened here, but -- so, that's just a question to  23(e),16

right?  Is --17

MR. CHARNES:  I think that --18

JUDGE TATEL:  -- it fair?19

MR. CHARNES:  I think that's right.20

JUDGE TATEL:  So, what's your answer to the argumen t21

that, without an accounting, there's no way of know ing whether22

this is equally fair to all members of the class?23

MR. CHARNES:  Well, I think there are several24

responses.  First of all there has been done a grea t deal of25
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work with the existing data, analyzing that data to  determine1

whether there are significant accounting errors.  A nd2

Plaintiffs, the class has diligently attempted to s how over3

the course of 15 years that there were significant accounting4

errors.  But the fact of the matter is that heretof ore we've5

been largely unable to convince the District Court that that6

is the case.  Your Honor referred to the study, we discussed7

it at page 29 of our brief, where the Government st udies8

almost 50 million transactions, and the Government expert9

found only incredibly minor errors.  In fact, Judge  Robertson10

in Cobell XXI said that despite the plethora of evidence that11

this trust has been mismanaged for a century or mor e than a12

century, that there, as he put it, there has been e ssentially13

no direct evidence of funds missing from the trust.   So, the14

evidence that exists now contradicts Craven's argum ent.  15

And I think it's important to note a point that I t hink16

both you and Judge Rogers made at the beginning, wh ich is that17

this is an appeal, and Mrs. Craven is an Appellant,  and she18

needs to prove an abuse of discretion by the Distri ct Court in19

finding the settlement to be fair.  And it's her ob ligation if20

she's making an assertion of interclass conflict to  come21

forward with evidence of that, and we cite in our b riefs22

several circuits have made that point.  You can't c ome in and23

hypothesize that there may be an interclass conflic t, that24

there may be class members out there who are benefi tting, and25
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maybe some that are disadvantaged.  And in fact, he r argument1

is, I think if I read her blue brief correctly, she  concedes2

that, of course, there's going to be some variation  in class3

members, but her argument is premised on dramatic d ifferences,4

some class members wildly over-compensated, and som e wildly5

under-compensated, and that somehow creates a confl ict, but we6

don't know that that exists.  In fact, all the evid ence that7

has been tendered so far has been that that doesn't  exist. 8

And Judge Robertson certainly didn't think that exi sted.  9

Moreover, as we argue in our brief, we don't think that10

creates interclass conflict anyway because we don't  know, any11

particular class member doesn't know which category  he or she12

is in, and we discussed the Ewell (phonetic sp.) case from the13

Seventh Circuit which makes the point that if you d on't know14

which category you're in the disadvantage is there can't be an15

interclass conflict.16

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, but that, I don't think that17

really helps you because, you know, if an accountin g could in18

fact identify different classes, of the class, the fact that19

you don't know which one you're in before the accou nting has20

been done doesn't really get you very far.21

MR. CHARNES:  Well, but here --22

JUDGE TATEL:  I mean, your argument as I understood23

is that there's no accounting possible that could e ven24

determine it.25
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MR. CHARNES:  Well, in Ewell, the Seventh Circuit1

case, eventually everybody knew which category they  were in. 2

That was the case where the railroad laid fiber on one side of3

the railroad tracks or another, but when the case w as settled4

land owners didn't know which side the fiber would be on, and5

therefore the Court held that there was no conflict .  But6

you're absolutely right, it's crystal clear under Cobell XXII7

there is never going to be a meaningful accounting for this8

class --9

JUDGE TATEL:  Right.10

MR. CHARNES:  -- both as a result of Cobell XXII --11

JUDGE TATEL:  So what did the Court mean by low12

hanging fruit?13

MR. CHARNES:  Your Honor, I don't know.  I think14

that's a question for you.15

JUDGE TATEL:  I wasn't -- never mind.  16

MR. CHARNES:  But even more important --17

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, what do you think it meant?18

JUDGE ROGERS:  What do you think it might have19

meant?  Counsel suggested maybe the Court had in mi nd20

subclasses, and that type of thing.21

JUDGE TATEL:  Right.22

MR. CHARNES:  I don't -- I know Mr. Frank mentioned ,23

wrote that in his reply brief.  I think, I don't re ad Cobell24

XXII as at all suggesting there are separate classes or25
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subclasses that should be created.  I think what th is Court1

probably meant was that the easy data to analyze sh ould be2

analyzed to see whether there are any mistakes in t here.  Part3

of the problem with that is number one, the easy da ta have4

already been analyzed, and which Judge Robertson fo und --5

JUDGE TATEL:  Is that the study you were just6

talking about, the 20-year study?7

MR. CHARNES:  Among other things, that's correct.8

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  Yes.9

MR. CHARNES:  And moreover, even that, even analysi s10

of the low hanging fruit is, this is important, is critically,11

is dependent upon congressional appropriation.  So,  if12

Congress appropriates $100 for the accounting under  Cobell13

XXII, that's sufficient.  Moreover, we can't forget tha t the14

vast majority of records for this trust have been d estroyed,15

so --16

JUDGE ROGERS:  See, that's why I frame this in term s17

of trying to think about it in terms of impossibili ty.  Not18

only are records lost, the Department changes its m ethod of19

accounting on two different occasions.  Even if Con gress said,20

you know, here's an open bank account, do the accou nting, at21

some point you're going to be into statistical mode ling, and22

the Plaintiffs rejected that approach early on.23

MR. CHARNES:  That's right.24

JUDGE ROGERS:  So, where are we in a sense?25
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MR. CHARNES:  So, and that's precisely why the1

settlement for the historical accounting class was established2

the way it was, it's a $1,000 payment that is not r estitution3

to compensate class members for errors in their acc ounts.  But4

it is instead a payment to buy from them, essential ly to5

purchase from class members, the right to an accoun ting.  It's6

true the District Court, Judge Hogan did at one poi nt from the7

bench refer to this as a restitutionary type of rel ief, it's8

clear that from the context of his analysis that th at's not a9

precise description; I don't think that's what he m eant, that10

it was restitution, and that's not how the settleme nt is11

structured.  It's not meant to say that on average class12

members are disadvantaged by $1,000, or most, or so me, it's13

simply purchasing from them the right, the Governme nt's14

obligation, to do an accounting for everybody.  And  it's not15

possible, as Mr. Frank suggested, for a particular class16

member to stand up and say I'd like an accounting, that's why17

there's no opt-out.  This is a co-mingled unitary t rust, it's18

not possible for one class member, or 10 class memb ers to say19

well, just do an accounting for my funds, because t he money20

for all class members was held in common, was co-mi ngled and21

was, we alleged, in the amended complaint, the init ial was22

mismanaged in common.23

JUDGE ROGERS:  Well, explain to me a little, very24

briefly, what did the named Plaintiffs receive?25
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MR. CHARNES:  Thank you for raising that, Your1

Honor, that's an important point.  In, I believe fo r the first2

time, in the reply brief Mrs. Craven says well, the  named3

Plaintiffs suffered no losses, and they -- because they4

received an accounting, and the accounting that the y received5

showed that they were minimal losses, and that's no t accurate. 6

And if I could have a minute just to describe the b ackground7

because I think it will take a few seconds to descr ibe this. 8

In the District Court's initial discovery order it ordered the9

Government to produce all trust records related to the named10

Plaintiffs and their predecessors and interests, an d the11

Government had a difficult time doing that.  Ultima tely, in12

satisfaction of that obligation they produced a rep ort, which13

was referred to as the Rosenbaum Report, which anal yzed, or14

attempted to analyze the named Plaintiffs' IIM acco unt records15

to the extent that they existed.  When that expert report was16

produced to the Plaintiffs, Plaintiffs' counsel was  concerned17

that the Government was going to take the position that Mr.18

Frank now takes, which is that was a full accountin g under the19

'94 Act, and the Plaintiffs filed a motion with the  District20

Court asking for a trial to be held on the adequacy  of that21

accounting, and the Government then took the positi on that no,22

no, no, that was not an accounting satisfying the G overnment's23

obligation to account, but it was just an expert re port.  And24

the reason I suppose the Government did that is tha t there25
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were severe problems with the analysis of the named1

Plaintiffs.  For one of the named Plaintiffs the Go vernment2

cannot find any IIM trust records at all, for the o ther named3

Plaintiffs they conceded that about one-seventh of all of the4

accounting, all of the transactions were not backed  up by5

documents, and what Mr. Rosenbaum did was he basica lly did a6

bookkeeping exercise, he found a piece of paper tha t said $307

should have been credited to the trust account, and  he went to8

the trust account and said look, there's $30 there,  but he9

never verified that $30 was the right amount, he ne ver10

verified that $30 was supposed to go to say Mrs. Co bell's11

account as opposed to somebody else's account.12

JUDGE ROGERS:  So, your position is even, and I13

gather the Government's position, even for that per iod of time14

as to those limited number of members of the class it has been15

impossible to prepare an historical accounting.16

MR. CHARNES:  That's exactly right, Your Honor.17

JUDGE ROGERS:  Yes.  Yes.  18

MR. CHARNES:  I see that my time has expired.  If19

there are no further questions, thank you.20

ORAL ARGUMENT OF THEODORE H. FRANK, ESQ.21

ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLANT22

MR. FRANK:  Very quickly.  They say that it's23

impossible to provide non-unitary relief for the ac counting,24

but then they acknowledge that the named Plaintiffs  got their25
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own accounting.  It may not have been a complete hi storical1

accounting, but they got a much better accounting t han any2

other class member got, and that's why this case is  not like3

Ewell.  In Ewell, the named Plaintiffs were in the same veil4

of ignorance as the rest of the class, here the nam ed5

Plaintiffs knew where they stood, and knew what the y could6

prove and what they could not prove within themselv es.  7

Mr. Charnes says that this is not restitution, but that8

is not what the Plaintiff said below, and that's wh y the9

District Court found it to be restitution, he was a sked to10

find it to be restitution by the Plaintiffs.  Yes, this is11

reviewed on abuse of discretion, but if the Distric t Court12

applies the wrong standard of law that is an abuse of13

discretion, and we've identified several different areas where14

we think the District Court committed an error of l aw.  15

With respect to the formula, I think that is import ant --16

JUDGE ROGERS:  So, could I just be clear, and maybe17

everybody else understands this.  If in this situat ion where18

it is impossible for the Government to prepare an h istorical19

accounting for each member of the class, any settle ment that20

gives up that right is necessarily unfair?21

MR. FRANK:  No.  Any (b)(2) settlement that --22

JUDGE ROGERS:  Any (b)(2) settlement is necessarily23

unfair?24

MR. FRANK:  That's correct.  We take the position25
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that there needs to be re-certification under (b)(3 ).1

JUDGE ROGERS:  I see.  All right.2

MR. FRANK:  And that's why you --3

JUDGE TATEL:  By the way, why would that -- I mean,4

that wouldn't solve anything.  The Government would n't agree5

to that, right?  Why would the Government agree to a deal6

whereby individual Plaintiff's can opt out and stil l seek a7

historic accounting?  I mean, I think the more cand id answer8

to Judge Rogers' question you might have given is t hat it9

can't be settled for giving up the historic account ing, right?10

MR. FRANK:  Well, if the --11

JUDGE TATEL:  I mean, if you were advising the12

Interior Department you wouldn't advise them to -- they don't13

even need to a lawyer to know not to sign that deal , right?14

MR. FRANK:  Well, if the Interior Department thinks15

that they can't offer enough to the class that nobo dy would16

opt out from the historical accounting rights --17

JUDGE TATEL:  Well, see, your point then, your real18

point is that this case can't be settled.19

MR. FRANK:  No, the case can be settled, it has to20

be a settlement that --21

JUDGE TATEL:  Without an accounting, that's your22

point.  Because either -- I think that's what you'r e saying.23

MR. FRANK:  Well, the case can be settled --24

JUDGE TATEL:  It can't be settled without an25
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historic accounting.  1

MR. FRANK:  The case can be settled, for example, i f2

the parties could agree to the scope of the injunct ive relief.3

JUDGE TATEL:  What does that mean?  You mean for4

less of a historic accounting?5

MR. FRANK:  They could agree what the low hanging6

fruit is.  7

JUDGE TATEL:  But --  they could agree to the low8

hanging fruit, but --9

JUDGE ROGERS:  Is that the same as what Judge10

Tatel's question --11

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  None of us know what that means .12

MR. FRANK:  Well, that's --13

JUDGE TATEL:  I don't know what it means.14

MR. FRANK:  -- why it would --15

JUDGE TATEL:  I mean, we've got --16

MR. FRANK:  I mean --17

JUDGE TATEL:  The best deal I've seen is the '0718

historic accounting.  I haven't seen anything in th ere that19

looks any more practical, even that isn't affordabl e.  But20

that as I said to you when we were first talking wo uldn't21

reveal anything about interclass discrepancies.  22

MR. FRANK:  Well, there was a settlement before23

Congress in 2006, 2007 to provide $7 billion to per form --24

JUDGE TATEL:  But Congress --25
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MR. FRANK:  -- substantial historical accounting --1

JUDGE TATEL:  -- Congress won't pay for it.2

MR. FRANK:  -- and compensation.  What?3

JUDGE TATEL:  Congress won't pay for it.4

MR. FRANK:  Well, the earlier settlement is one tha t5

the Plaintiffs rejected rather than Congress reject ed.  But --6

and, you know, maybe at this --  I mean, we can't j udge this7

based on what a future Congress may or --8

JUDGE TATEL:  No, but I think --9

MR. FRANK:  -- may not do.10

JUDGE TATEL:  Okay.  Now you're getting more candid . 11

Right.  I mean, you really are saying that this cas e can't be12

settled without an adequate historic accounting, an d13

Interior's obligation here, or at least the Plainti ffs have14

the right to tell Interior to go back to Congress, right?15

MR. FRANK:  I mean, I think Interior can say we are16

going to offer enough money and talk to the people who want to17

opt out and convince them that they shouldn't opt o ut, that18

it's in their best interests to agree to the settle ment and19

offer the historical accounting class a (b)(3) sett lement.  20

JUDGE TATEL:  You mean just the people who object21

would get the historic accounting?22

MR. FRANK:  I don't -- Well, I mean, the people who23

object are going to have to go and bring their own Section24

4011 claim, they'll have to find a lawyer to do tha t, and25
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they'll have to go against the Department of Interi or's1

defenses.2

JUDGE TATEL:  But every case --3

MR. FRANK:  And -- go ahead.4

JUDGE TATEL:  But all the recent decisions in this5

case say under the circumstances an historic accoun ting is not6

possible.  An historic accounting that would provid e the7

information you, seems to me, quite properly want.  But the8

record of this case suggests that's not going to ha ppen.9

MR. FRANK:  Well --10

JUDGE TATEL:  And you're telling me that that still11

means that this case can't be settled without the i mpossible12

historic accounting, so it can't be settled.13

MR. FRANK:  If this Court overrules Cobell XXII and14

says that an historical accounting is impossible, w hich they15

rejected the District Court's finding of that and s aid no, no,16

some historical accounting --17

JUDGE TATEL:  No, no, no.18

MR. FRANK:  -- is possible --19

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  The question though is, there's20

no question, you're absolutely right about that, so me historic21

accounting is possible.  The question is whether an  historic22

accounting is possible, whether the historic accoun ting that23

is possible is one that would yield the information  that you24

are looking for, and I don't see that in this recor d.  25
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MR. FRANK:  And again --1

JUDGE TATEL:  That's my problem.2

MR. FRANK:  -- we're relying on what this Court has3

already found in Cobell --4

JUDGE TATEL:  Okay.5

MR. FRANK:  -- XXII.6

JUDGE TATEL:  All right.7

MR. FRANK:  If the Court wants to make a different8

finding, different results certainly occur.  9

JUDGE TATEL:  Okay.10

JUDGE ROGERS:  All right.  11

MR. FRANK:  With respect to the formula that the12

parties are relying on, I think that's very importa nt to the13

idea of over-compensation and under-compensation.  My client14

who gets $1,000 a year from her trust account is en titled to15

$1,400 or so from this formula, a class member with  10 cents a16

year from their trust account is entitled to $800 u nder this17

formula.  And as we documented, my client believes that she18

has valid trust administration claims that are bein g wiped out19

by this settlement.  I'm happy to take any other qu estions you20

have.  I think there are other errors of law, such as the21

23(a)(4) issue, and I'm happy to answer your questi ons.  If22

not, thank you.23

JUDGE TATEL:  I don't have any more questions.24

JUDGE ROGERS:  Okay.  No, thank you very much,25
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Counsel.1

MR. FRANK:  Thank you, Your Honor.2

JUDGE TATEL:  Yes.  3

JUDGE ROGERS:  All right.  We will take the case4

under advisement.  5

(Recess.)6
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 DIGITALLY SIGNED CERTIFICATE

I certify that the foregoing is a correct

transcription of the electronic sound recording of the

proceedings in the above-entitled matter.

_________________________                                      

Paula Underwood                       February 28, 2012

DEPOSITION SERVICES, INC.




